
In-person participation by the public will be permitted.  
 
Submit a written public comment prior to the meeting: Public comments submitted to 
krashad@atwater.org by 4:00 p.m. on the day of the meeting will be distributed to the 
Planning Commission and made part of the official minutes but will not be read out loud 
during the meeting. 
 
Assistance will be provided to those requiring accommodations for disabilities in 
compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990. Persons requesting 
accommodation should contact the City in advance of the meeting, and as soon as 
possible, at (209) 357-6241. 

 

CITY OF ATWATER 
 

PLANNING COMMISSION 
 

AGENDA 
 

Council Chambers 
750 Bellevue Road  
Atwater, CA 95301 

 
 

April 17, 2024 
 
CALL TO ORDER:                                    6:00 PM 

 
INVOCATION:  
 
Invocation by Police Chaplain McClellan 
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE TO THE FLAG:  
 
ROLL CALL:   
 
Kadach____, Mokha____, Sanchez-Garcia ____, Sanders____, Borgwardt____ 
 
SUBSEQUENT NEED ITEMS: (The Planning Secretary shall announce any requests for items 
requiring immediate action subsequent to the posting of the agenda. Subsequent need items require a two-
thirds vote of the members of the Commission present at the meeting.) 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA AS POSTED OR AS AMENDED: (This is the time for the 
Commission to remove items from the agenda or to change the order of the agenda.) 

 
Staff’s Recommendation: Motion to approve agenda as posted or as amended. 
 

mailto:krashad@atwater.org


Planning Commission Agenda for Meeting of April 17, 2024             Page 2 

MINUTES:   
 

1. March 20, 2024 – Regular meeting  
 

Staff’s Recommendation:  Approval of minutes as listed.  
 
PETITIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS:  
 

2. Request from Valley Christian Church for a Craft Vendor Fair and temporary 
road closure. 

 
Staff’s Recommendation: Approval of request from the Valley Christian 
Church to host a Craft Vendor Fair on April 27, 2024 from 7:00am-3:00pm 
with a road closure from the property line of Valley Christian Church on 
Cedar Ave to the corner of Third St and Cedar Ave.  

 
PUBLIC HEARINGS:  
 

3. Public hearing to consider adopting a resolution approving Conditional Use 
Permit No. 24-06-0100 and Site Plan No. 24-06-0200 located at 231 Atwater 
Blvd. between Atwater Boulevard and Broadway Ave, approximately 500 feet 
northwest of Shaffer Road in Atwater (APN: 003-093-019)  
(Applicant: Edith Moreno Espinosa) 
 

Staff’s Recommendation: Open the public hearing and receive any 
testimony given;  
  
Close the public hearing; 
 
Make a finding that the project is categorically exempt under California 
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) guideline section 15311 (c), “Accessory 
Structures;” and, adopt Resolution No. 244-24, Conditional Use Permit No. 
24-06-0100 and Site Plan No. 24-06-0200, located at 231 Atwater Blvd., 
between Atwater Boulevard and Broadway Avenue, approximately 500 feet 
northwest of Shaffer Road in Atwater (APN: 003-093-019). 
 

4. Public hearing to consider approving a time extension request for 
Resolution No. 150-21 and Resolution No. 186-21 for development of +/- 2.4 
acres of vacant land into a Mixed-Use project located West pf Redwood 
Avenue and North of Bellevue Road, Atwater (APN: 150-320-023) 
(Applicant: Golden State Reality Association) 

 
REPORTS AND PRESENTATION FROM STAFF:  
 

5. Interim City Manager / Community Development Director Verbal Updates 
 



Planning Commission Agenda for Meeting of April 17, 2024             Page 3 

COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC:  

COMMISSIONER MATTERS: 
 
ADJOURNMENT: 
 
CERTIFICATION: 
 
I, Kayla Rashad, Planning Commission Recording Secretary, do hereby certify that a copy 
of the foregoing Agenda was posted at City Hall a minimum of 72 hours prior to the 
meeting. 
 

Kayla Rashad 
__________________________________ 
Kayla Rashad,  
Planning Commission Recording Secretary  
 
 
SB 343 NOTICE 
In accordance with California Government Code Section 54957.5, any writing or document that is a public 
record, relates to an open session agenda item and is distributed less than 72 hours prior to a regular 
meeting will be made available for public inspection in the Community Development Department at City 
Hall during normal business hours at 750 Bellevue Road. 

  
If, however, the document or writing is not distributed until the regular meeting to which it relates, then the 
document or writing will be made available to the public at the location of the meeting, as listed on this 
agenda at 750 Bellevue Road. 

 
In compliance with the Federal Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, upon request, the 
agenda can be provided in an alternative format to accommodate special needs.  If you 
require special accommodations to participate in a Planning Commission meeting due to 
a disability, please contact the Planning Commission Secretary a minimum of three (3) 
business days in advance of the meeting at planning@atwater.org or  (209) 812-1031. You 
may also send the request by email to  

NOTICE TO THE PUBLIC 
 

At this time any person may comment on any item which is not on the agenda. You may state your name and 
address for the record; however, it is not required. Action will not be taken on an item that is not on the agenda. If 
it requires action, it will be referred to staff and/or placed on a future agenda. Please limit comments to a maximum 
of three (3) minutes. 
 

 

mailto:planning@atwater.org


 
CITY OF ATWATER 

 
 

 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

 
ACTION MINUTES 

 
March 20, 2024 

 
 
REGULAR SESSION: (Council Chambers) 
 
The Planning Commission of the City of Atwater met in Regular Session 
this date at 6:01 PM in the City Council Chambers located at the Atwater 
Civic Center, 750 Bellevue Road, Atwater, California;  
 
INVOCATION:  
 
Invocation by Police Chaplin McClellan 
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE TO THE FLAG: 
 
The Pledge of Allegiance was led by Planning Commission Member Borgwardt 
 
ROLL CALL:   
 
Present:  Planning Commission Members Borgwardt, Kadach, Sanchez-

Garcia, Sanders, and Mokha 
Absent: None 
Staff Present: Battalion Chief Lopes, Battalion Chief Ayuso, Chief Building 

Official Pereida, Lieutenant Novetzke, Senior Planner Navarro, 
Recording Secretary Rashad . 

 
SUBSEQUENT NEED ITEMS:   
 
None 
 
APPROVAL OF AGENDA AS POSTED OR AS AMENDED: 



 
MOTION: Planning Commission Member Kadach moved to approve the agenda. 
The motion was seconded by Planning Commission Member Sanders and the vote 
was: Ayes: Planning Commission Members Sanders, Borgwardt, Kadach, 
Sanchez-Garcia, Mokha; Noes: None; Absent: None. The motion passed. 
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES:  
 
a) February 21, 2024   – Regular Meeting 
 
MOTION: Planning Commission Member Sanchez-Garcia moved to approve the 
minutes. The motion was seconded by Planning Commission Member Kadach and 
the vote was: Ayes: Planning Commission Members Sanders, Borgwardt, Kadach, 
Sanchez-Garcia, Mokha; Noes: None; Absent: None. The motion passed. 
 
PETITIONS AND COMMUNICATIONS:  
 
None 

PUBLIC HEARINGS: 
 
Public hearing to consider adopting a resolution approving Tentative Map No. 23-12-0100 
located east of Heather Glen Lane and North of Fruitland Ave (APN: 150-150-025)   
 
(Applicant: Francisco Marquez) 
 
Senior Planner Navarro provided background on this project. 
 
Chair Borgwardt opened the public hearing. 
 
Applicant Francisco Marquez spoke on the project. 
 
Joseph Weiss came forward to speak on the project. 
 
Kory Billings came forth to speak on the project. 
 
No one else came forward to speak. 
 
Chair Borgwardt closed the public hearing. 
 
MOTION: Planning Commission Member Sanders moved to make a finding that the 
project is categorically exempt under California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) 
guideline section 15315, Class 15 “Minor Land Divisions;” and adopt Resolution 
No. 0231-23 Approving Tentative Map No. 23-12-0100 for a property located east of 
Heather Glen Lane and North of Fruitland Avenue, Atwater (APN: 150-150-025). The 



motion was not seconded. The motion did not pass due to the lack of a second 
motion. 

Public hearing to consider adopting a resolution approving Conditional.Use Permit No. 
24-03-0100 located on the Northeast corner of Progress Avenue and Hazel Avenue in 
Atwater (APN: 003-160-026) 

(Applicant: Brad Kessler) 

Senior Planner Navarro provided background on this project. 

Chair Borgwardt opened the public hearing. 

Applicant Brad Kessler spoke on this project. 
 
No one else came forward to speak. 
 
Chair Borgwardt closed the public hearing. 
 
MOTION: Planning Commission Member Mokha moved to Make a finding that the 
project is categorically exempt under California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) 
guideline section 15303, Class 3 “New Construction or Conversion of Small 
Structures;” and adopt Resolution No. 0243-24 approving Conditional Use Permit 
No. 24-03-0100, located at the corner of Progress Avenue and Hazel Avenue in 
Atwater (APN: 003-160-026). The motion was seconded by Planning Commission 
Member Kadach and the vote was: Ayes: Planning Commission Members Mokha, 
Kadach, Sanders, Sanchez-Garcia, Borgwardt; Noes: None; Absent: None. The 
motion passed. 

Public hearing to make a finding that the proposed exterior paint scheme for Fire Station 
41, located at 699 Broadway, Atwater, CA (APN: 003-075-001), conforms with the City’s 
policies, codes, and guidelines for government buildings pursuant to the Atwater 
Municipal Code 17.12.060. 
 
(Applicant: City of Atwater) 
 
Battalion Chief Ayuso provided background on the project. 

Chair Borgwardt opened the public hearing. 

Chief Building Official Pereida stated this project was reviewed by the Design and 
Review Committee. 

No one else came forward to speak. 

Chair Borgwardt closed the public hearing. 

Chair Borgwardt stated the Planning Commission Members would approve the 
color palette, but the design is up to the applicant. 



MOTION: Planning Commission Member Sanders moved to make a finding that the 
proposed exterior paint scheme is consistent with the City’s policies, codes, and 
guidelines for government buildings pursuant to the Atwater Municipal Code 
17.12.060. The motion was seconded by Planning Commission Member Sanchez-
Garcia and the vote was: Ayes: Planning Commission Members Mokha, Kadach, 
Sanders, Sanchez-Garcia, Borgwardt; Noes: None; Absent: None. The motion 
passed. 
 
REPORTS AND PRESENTATIONS FROM STAFF:  
 
Interim City Manager / Community Development Director Updates. 
 
Recording Secretary provided the Planning Commission Members with a list of 
updates on projects approved for the year of 2023. 
 
COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC: 
 
Chair Borgwardt opened the Public Comment. 
 
Notice to the public was read. 
 
Brad Kessler provided the Planning Commission Members with an update on the 
Digital Billboard located at five corners which was previously approved. 
 
No one else came forward to speak. 
 
Chair Borgwardt closed the public comment. 

COMMISSIONER MATTERS: 

Planning Commission Member Sanchez-Garcia thanked the Fire Station for their 
services and cost reduction on their project. 

Planning Commission Member Sanders stated the Applicant Francisco Marquez 
does have the right to appeal. She also congratulated the City Public Works Sewer 
team on their work. 

Chair Borgwardt stated the Applicant Francisco Marquez should have some 
communication with the other residents on Heather Glen so he can move forward 
with his project. Also that for the public noticing we should expand the radius to 
include the residents on Heather Glen. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



ADJOURNMENT: 
 
Chair Borgwardt adjourned the meeting at 7:23 PM. 
 
 
________________________________ 
Don Borgwardt, Chair 
 
By: Kayla Rashad 
Recording Secretary 
 



















 

 

 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 
AGENDA REPORT  
 
      

 

  
 
MEETING DATE: April 17, 2024 
 
TO:    Chair and Commissioners 
 
FROM:   Tom Navarro, Contract Senior Planner 
 
SUBJECT:  Public hearing to consider adopting a resolution approving 

Conditional Use Permit No. 24-06-0100 and Site Plan No. 24-06-
0200 located at 231 Atwater Blvd between Atwater Boulevard 
and Broadway Avenue, approximately 500 feet northwest of 
Shaffer Road in Atwater (APN: 003-093-019). 

 
    

RECOMMENDED COMMISSION ACTION: 
 
It is recommended that Planning Commission: 
 
1. Open the public hearing and receive any testimony from the public; 

 
2. Close the public hearing; 

 
3. Make a finding that the project is categorically exempt under California 

Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) guideline section 15311 (c), “Accessory 
Structures;” and, adopt Resolution No. 244-24, Conditional Use Permit No. 24-06-
0100 and Site Plan No. 24-06-0200, located at 231 Atwater Blvd., between Atwater 
Boulevard and Broadway Avenue, approximately 500 feet northwest of Shaffer 
Road in Atwater (APN: 003-093-019). 

 
I. BACKGROUND:  
 
The subject property is located at 231 Atwater Boulevard (APN: 003-093-019) between 
Atwater Boulevard and Broadway Avenue, approximately five-hundred feet from its 
intersection with Shaffer Road (refer to Figure 1). The parcel is approximately 1.10 acres 
and currently has Valley Foods Supermarket, including fifty-seven (57) parking spaces 
(five parking spaces are designated as ADA parking spaces). The existing supermarket 
is approximately a 15,500 sq-ft facility with approximately 13,000 sq-ft dedicated to sales 
and 2,500 sq-ft dedicated to storage.  
 
 



Agenda Report – Planning Commission  Page 2 
 
   

 
 
 

  

Figure 1: Site Location 
 

 
 
ANALYSIS:  
 
The applicant requests a Conditional Use Permit to allow it to operate a mobile food trailer 
at 231 Atwater Boulevard (APN: 003-093-019) in the Downtown Business District. The 
food trailer is approximately 16 x 8 (128 sq-ft) and will be located on the Southwest side 
of the property, with the serving area facing North. The food truck will have a twelve-
gallon garbage can located on-site with the supermarket for dedicate waste from the food 
trailer operation. The food trailer will be powered by a gas-powered generator. The food 
truck will operate with a total of two employees (owners) between the hours of 9:00 am – 
8:00 pm, Tuesday through Saturday. The proposed food truck will occupy three parking 
spaces during its operation. However, the parking for the Valley Foods Supermarket will 
still comply with its parking requirements while the food trailer is operating.   
 
As previously stated, the Valley Foods Supermarket, where the food trailer will be located, 
has fifty-seven (57) parking spaces (including five ADA parking spaces). The food trailer 
will utilize three parking spaces leaving fifty-four (54) parking spaces available, the 



Agenda Report – Planning Commission  Page 3 
 
   

 
 
 

  

minimum requirement per the Atwater Municipal Code. Per the Atwater Municipal Code 
(AMC). Per AMC section 17.63.040, the following parking requirements apply to 
commercial uses:   
 

A. Retail stores, personal services, professional and business offices, banks, and 
post offices: one space for every 500 square feet of floor area. However, uses 
which do not generate significant traffic, including but not limited to furniture stores, 
may convert part of the required parking into landscaping at the discretion of the 
Planning Commission; this landscaped area is to be converted if the need arises 
or the land use changes.  

 
B. Further, for Mobile Food Vendors, the following specific parking requirements 

apply: 
 

1. If the mobile food vendor shares a site with an established use, any parking  
spaces occupied by patrons of the mobile food vendor shall not be counted 
against the established use’s parking requirements. If the established use 
notifies the City that parking has become an issue for its own patrons as a result 
of the mobile food vendor’s operations, the Planning Commission shall hold a 
hearing to determine whether to revoke or modify the mobile food vendor’s 
conditional use permit. 

 
Description of Surrounding Uses: The parcels immediately to the south/southwest of 
the subject property include the Southern Pacific Rail line and vacant land that is within 
the Business Park (B-P) zone district. Parcels to the north/northeast of the proposed 
project include an established residential neighborhood. The parcels to the southeast 
include an established mobile home park and parcels to the northwest of the subject 
property include retail commercial and auto repair establishments. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Agenda Report – Planning Commission  Page 4 
 
   

 
 
 

  

 
Figure 2 

 
 
Land Use Designation: The project site has a land use designation of Downtown 
Residential Mixed Use (DMU); this designation is intended to provide for a full range of 
uses in Downtown Atwater including retail stores, eating, and drinking establishments, 
commercial recreation, entertainment and cultural facilities, hospitals, hotels and motels, 
educational and social services, and government offices. The project intends to operate 
a food trailer that is consistent with the designated use of the Atwater General Plan land 
use designation. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Agenda Report – Planning Commission  Page 5 
 
   

 
 
 

  

 
Figure 3 

 
 
Zoning: The subject property is zoned Downtown Business District D-BD) (See Figure 
3).  The purpose of the Downtown Business District zone is to provide a mix of public and 
private uses designated to create a downtown shopping experience and pedestrian 
friendly environment. Emphasis on a mix of small-scale commercial and retail businesses 
and locally oriented professional and personal services are encouraged. Establishment 
of mobile food vendor in the Downtown Business District (D-BD) is allowed by review and 
approval of the Planning Commission under a Conditional Use Permit Application. 
 
Recommendation: 
 
The applicant’s request for a conditional use permit to operate a food truck/mobile food 
vendor located at 231 Atwater Boulevard is consistent with the land use designation and 
the AMC 17.39.030. Staff recommends Planning Commission approve the use permit. 
 
II. FISCAL IMPACTS:  
 
No negative fiscal impacts are anticipated with the approval of this project. This item 
has been reviewed by the Finance Department. 



Agenda Report – Planning Commission  Page 6 
 
   

 
 
 

  

 
III. LEGAL REVIEW: 
 
This item has been reviewed by the City Attorney. 
 
IV. EXISTING POLICY:  
 
General Plan Policies: 
 
 Policy LU-3.3. Accommodate a variety of uses in Downtown Atwater that operate 

beyond standard business hours to increase activity within the City core. 
 

V. INTERDEPARTMENTAL COORDINATION:  
 
An interdepartmental routing sheet was sent to all required departments and affected 
agencies for review, and their comments and conditions have been incorporated. 
 
VI. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION:  
 
The public will have an opportunity to provide comments on this item prior to Planning 
Commission action. The public will have the opportunity to provide comments on this item 
prior to Planning Commission action. 
 
VII. ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW:  
 
Pursuant to the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA), the project is categorically 
exempt under guideline section 15311 (c), “Accessory Structures”. 
 
Class 11 consists of construction, or replacement of minor structures accessory to 
existing commercial, industrial, or institutional facilities, including but not limited to: 
 

(a) On-premise signs; 
(b) Small parking lots; 
(c) Placement of seasonal or temporary use items such as lifeguard towers, mobile 

food units, portable restrooms, or similar items in generally the same locations from 
time to time in publicly owned parks, stadiums, or other facilities designed for public 
use. 

 
VIII. STEPS FOLLOWING APPROVAL:  

 
Following adoption of Resolution No. PC 0244-24, Conditional Use Permit No.  24-06-
0100 and Site Plan No. 24-06-0200 and a five-day appeal period, the signed resolutions 
will be given to the applicant.  
 
Prepared by: Tom Navarro, Contract Senior Planner 
 



Agenda Report – Planning Commission  Page 7 
 
   

 
 
 

  

Submitted by: _______________________________________________ 
  Greg Thompson, Interim City Manager  
 
Attachments:  

1. Resolution No PC 0244-24 
2. City of Atwater Uniform Development Application  
3. Operational Statement  
4. Site Plan  

 
 



 
 
 
 

 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

OF THE CITY OF ATWATER 

   
 
 

                                                                                                                                    
RESOLUTION NO. PC 0244-24 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE PLANNING 
COMMISSION OF THE CITY OF ATWATER TO 
CONSIDER ADOPTING A RESOLUTION 
APPROVING CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT NO. 
24-06-0100 AND SITE PLAN REVIEW NO. 24-06-
0200 LOCATED AT 231 ATWATER BLVD, 
BETWEEN ATWATER BOULEVARD AND 
BROADWAY AVENUE, APPROXIMATELY 500 
FEET NORTHEAST OF SHAFFER ROAD IN 
ATWATER (APN: 003-093-019). 
 

WHEREAS, at a duly noticed public hearing held on April 17th, 2024, the Planning 
Commission of the City of Atwater reviewed Conditional Use Permit No. 24-06-0100 
and Site Plan Review No. 24-06-0200. 
 
WHEREAS, said application was reviewed by the Planning Commission of the City of 
Atwater on April 17, 2024; and, 

WHEREAS, this project is statutorily exempt from environmental review under California 
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) guideline 15311(c), “Accessory Structures;” and, 

WHEREAS,  __ person(s) spoke in favor of the Conditional Use Permit, __ person(s) 
spoke in opposition of the Conditional Use Permit, and __ written comment(s) have 
been submitted either in opposition or in favor of the Conditional Use Permit; and, 

WHEREAS, the proposed Conditional Use Permit No. 24-06-0100 and Site Plan No. 
24-06-0200 would not have a detrimental effect on the health, safety, and welfare of the 
neighborhood nor have any adverse effect on the community; and, 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission finds that the following findings can be made for 
Conditional Use Permit No. 24-06-0100 and Site Plan No. 24-06-0200, in accordance 
with Atwater Municipal Code Section 17.71: 

1. The applicant proposes to operate as a Mobile Food Trailer in compliance  
 with all applicable City regulations.  
 



Planning Commission Resolution No. 0244-24 Page 2 
 

2. The project is consistent with the City’s General Plan and Zoning Ordinance. 
 
3. The project is exempt from environmental review pursuant CEQA guideline     

15311(c), “Accessory Structures”. 
 
4. The public hearing for this application has been adequately noticed and  
 advertised. 
 
5. Adoption of the resolution will not have a detrimental effect on the health, safety,  
   and welfare of the neighborhood or any adverse effects on the community. 

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, that the recitals above are true and correct 
and are hereby incorporated by reference. Planning Commission of the City of Atwater 
does hereby approve Conditional Use Permit No. 24-06-0100 and Site Plan No. 24-06-
0200 for a mobile food vendor located at 231 Atwater Blvd., located between Atwater 
Boulevard and Broadway Avenue, approximately 500 feet northwest of Shaffer Road in 
Atwater (APN: 003-093-019). 

 
ENGINEERING 
 
1. Ensure parking requirements are met with the reduction of parking on site, 

including without limitation, AMC 17.63.040. 

FIRE 
 
2. Check that there is a clearance of at least 10 ft away from buildings, 

structures, vehicles, and any combustible materials or as prescribed by the 
AHJ. 

 
3. Commercial Class A, B, C extinguisher will be installed and clearly visible for 

Kitchen cooking areas in accordance with NFPA 10 and 2022 CFC 
 
PLANNING 

4. All on-site graffiti shall be the responsibility of the property owner. All graffiti 
shall be abated in accordance with City Graffiti Ordinances. 

5. Project shall comply with the most current California Code of Regulations Title 
24, parts 1 through 12, the most current Health and Safety Codes and the most 
current Fire and Life Safety Codes, all along with the California State 
Amendments. All building permit applications received by the City of Atwater 
Building Division on or after January 1, 2020, shall comply with parts 1 through 
10 and part 12 of the 2019 edition of the California Code of Regulations Title 
24. 



Planning Commission Resolution No. 0244-24 Page 3 
 

6. The Mobile Food Trailer will operate Monday through Saturday between the 
hours of 9:00 am and 8:00 pm.  

7. Provide an annual Conditional Use Permit Monitoring fee in accordance with 
the Miscellaneous Fee Schedule.  

8. Applicant shall pay the Commercial Conditional Use Permit General Plan 
Update Fee in accordance with he Miscellaneous Fee Schedule, upon approval 
of this Conditional Use Permit. 

9. Applicant shall comply with all the conditions of approval prior to issuance of a 
business license. 

10. The Planning Commission shall retain the right to reconsider Conditional Use 
Permit No. 24-06-0100. 

11. Applicant shall comply with all Commercial and Industrial Design Guidelines. 
Minor changes to the architectural style or square footage shall be reviewed 
and approved by the Planning Department. 

12. Applicant shall submit a sign application prior to installation of all proposed 
signs to be installed on buildings or onsite shall be reviewed and approved by 
the Planning Department. 

13. This Conditional Use Permit is non-transferrable and a copy of which shall be 
posted with the business during the hours of operation. 

14. The Mobile Food Trailer’s business equipment shall be appropriately placed as 
to not interfere with sight triangles, on-site circulation, vehicular, bicycle, ADA, 
or pedestrian pathways, emergency access, fire lanes, drive aisles, required 
setbacks, landscaping requirements, parking, drainage, or any other 
requirements that have been imposed as part of the site plan approval for the 
premises or property on which the business is located, and shall be located in a 
manner that will not constitute a safety hazard. 

15. The Mobile Food Trailer’s business equipment shall be placed only on a paved, 
concrete, or other impervious surface or approved equivalent. 

16. The Mobile food vendors shall vacate the premises upon closing of the posted 
hours of operation. 

17. The site of the business shall always be kept clean and free of litter. Trash and 
garbage shall be removed from the site at the end of each day. 



Planning Commission Resolution No. 0244-24 Page 4 
 

18. Wastewater generated by this use shall not be released on-site or into any 
storm drainage or irrigation system. 

19. Grease and other waste products shall be disposed of per the requirements of 
the Merced County Division of Environmental Health (MCDEH). 

20. Approval of this Conditional Use Permit application does not constitute approval      
for any other entitlement or any necessary permit, license, or approval. 

21. The applicant shall comply with all City, County, State and Federal regulations. 

22. Prior to commencement of operations, the applicant, if required shall obtain a 
mobile food facility permit from MCDEH and thereafter operate within the 
parameters of the permit and the applicable sections of the California Retail 
Food Code. 

23. The mobile food vehicles (to include self-contained trucks, trailers, and carts) 
shall be located within 200 feet travel distance of an MCDEH approved 
restroom facility to include a hand washing station. The mobile food staff shall 
always have access to this restroom during operation of the business. If the 
restrooms are locked, the food vendors staff must have a key in their 
possession. 

24. The mobile food vendors shall not obtain any water from the premises, nor shall 
any wastewater from the food facility be drained to on-site sewer connection or 
to the ground surface. No solid waste (trash, etc.) from the mobile food vendors 
shall be disposed of on the premises. 

25. Should the water supply or sanitary sewer service to the restrooms of the 
premises become interrupted, then the operation of the mobile food vendors 
shall cease until said time that service returns. 

26. The mobile food vendors must report to its approved commissary at least once 
every day for cleaning, discharge of wastewater, restocking of fresh potable 
water supply, food, and other consumable supplies. 

27. Any extension cords used to supply power to the mobile food vendors 
equipment shall be rated for outdoor use. The cord must be one continuous 
cord that will not interfere with any paths of travel, including emergency access 
or accessible. 

28. Vendors shall comply with all requirements of the San Joaquin Valley Air 
Pollution District (SJVAPCD) for all equipment used in association with the 
mobile food vendors, equipment, accessories, and any mobile power 
generation. 



Planning Commission Resolution No. 0244-24 Page 5 
 

29. This Conditional Use Permit shall expire within six (6) months from the day of 
approval if the operation has not started. 

30. This approval is dependent upon and limited to the proposals and plans 
contained, supporting documents submitted, presentations made to staff, and 
Planning Commission as affirmed to by the applicant. Any variation from these 
plans, proposals, supporting documents, or presentations is subject to review 
and approval prior to implementation. 

31. The applicant or applicant’s successor in interest shall indemnify and defend 
and hold harmless the City of Atwater, its agents, officers, and employees from 
any and all claims, actions, or proceedings against the City of Atwater, its 
agents, officers, and employees to attack, set aside, void, or annul any approval 
by the City of Atwater and its advisory agency, appeal board, or legislative body 
concerning this application, which action is brought within applicable statutes of 
limitations. The City of Atwater shall promptly notify the applicant or applicant’s 
successor in interest of any claim or proceedings and shall cooperate fully in 
the defense. If the City fails to do so, the applicant or applicant’s successor in 
interest shall not thereafter be responsible to defend, indemnify or hold the City 
harmless. This condition may be placed on any plans or other documents 
pertaining to this application. 

POLICE 

32. Any external electricity is secured to prevent theft of utilities. 

33. Addition of adequate lighting to prevent unwanted access or camping on the 
property. 

34. Any externa; water is secured to prevent theft of utilities. 
 

The foregoing resolution is hereby adopted this 17th day of April, 2024. 
 
AYES:  
NOES:  
ABSENT:     
       APPROVED: 
 
       _____________________________                                                               
       DON BORGWARDT,  
       CHAIR  
ATTEST: 
 
______________________________                                                                           
GREG THOMPSON,  



Planning Commission Resolution No. 0244-24 Page 6 
 

INTERIM CITY MANAGER 


















































	PC Agenda 04.17.24.pdf
	PC Minutes 03.20.24.pdf
	ACTION MINUTES

	Valley Christian Church Craft Vendor Fair
	RSO PC 0244-24 Staff Report Packet.pdf
	RSO PC 0244-24 Staff Report.pdf
	 /
	PLANNING COMMISSION
	AGENDA REPORT 
	TO:    Chair and Commissioners

	RSO PC 0244-24 Resolution.pdf
	PLANNING COMMISSION

	RSO 0244-244 UDA
	RSO 0244-24 Operational Statement
	RSO 0244-24 Site Plan
	RSO 0244-24 Food Truck Images


